IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOYCE M. TADDIKEN and FRANK TADDIKEN, her husband,

Petitioners

vs

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPEN-SATION FUND,

Respondent

Case No 65,690 3d District Court of Appeal Case No 83-1478 83-1541

OCT 9 1984 < CLEIKK, SUMALIVIE DOURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

STO J. Vela E

FILE

BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

ROBERT M. BRAKE Attorney for Petitioners 1830 Ponce de Leon Blvd Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 444 1694 Florida Bar No 008308

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The District Court of Appeal, 3d District, certified the question in this case to be of great public importance.

Appellants were Plaintiffs below. They filed a civil action for medical malpractice against the doctor and hospital defendants within two years after discovering the existence of their cause of action.

They filed Interrogatories asking the Defendants for the names and addresses of their insurors. The Defendant Dr. Garry Wachtel responded that he had two insurors, one of which was the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund.

Plaintiffs then filed an Amended Complaint to add the Fund as a Defendant. The Amended Complaint was filed more than two years after Plaintiffs discovered the existence of their cause of action.

The Fund moved for Judgment on the Pleadings on the grounds that:

 the Amended Complaint was filed more than two years after Plaintiffs discovered the injury giving rise to the civil action;

the limitations period of two years set forth in Section
 95.11 (4) (b) Florida Statutes applied to it; and

3. the filing of the Amended Complaint to add the Fund as Defendant did not relate back in time to the filing of the original Complaint so as to evade the bar of the Statute of Limitations.

The Trial Court granted the Motion, and the District Court of Appeals, Third District, affirmed. However, that Court certified the following Question to the Florida Supreme Court:

Whether a claim against the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund arises at the time of the alleged medical malpractice, rather than when judgment is entered against the tortfeasor, and is governed by the two year statute of limitations provided by Section 95.11 (4) (b), Florida Statutes (1977), so that the Fund must be made or joined as a party defendant within two years after the malpractice action accrues?

The identical question, on identical fact situations, has been certified to the Supreme Court by the Third District Court of Appeal in the cases of <u>Lugo v. Florida Patients Compensation Fund</u>, 9 FLW 1565 and Fabal v Florida Keys Memorial Hospital, 9 FLW 1210.

An identical case was presented to the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the case of <u>Florida Patients Compensation Fund v.</u> <u>Tillman</u>, 9 FLW 1547. That court held that the two year Statute of Limitations provided by said section did not apply. There is thus a direct conflict between the <u>Tillman</u> case and the case at bar, the <u>Lugo</u> case, and the <u>Fabal</u> case. A petition for Certiorari has been filed in the Tillman case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Joyce Taddiken underwent an abortion on or about June 16, 1978. In October 1978 she learned certain facts from medical

records which indicated she had a cause of action against her doctors and the hospital in which the abortion was performed. On June 13, 1980, Mrs. Taddiken, joined by her husband, filed this civil action against her doctors and the hospital for medical malpractice.

As part of their discovery Plaintiffs propounded Interrogatories to Defendants asking whether Defendants were insured for the claim that is the subject matter of the litigation and, if so, the name and address of the insurance company and certain information about the policy.

The Defendant Dr. Garry H. Wachtel answered that he was insured and named as one of his two insurors the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund.

Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint naming the Fund as an additional Defendant and setting forth the necessary allegtions concerning the membership of Defendant Dr. Wachtel in the Fund. The Fund filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings on the grounds that:

the Amended Complaint was filed more than two years after
 Plaintiffs discovered their cause of action;

2. the filing of the Amended Complaint against it as a new Defendant did not relate back in time to the filing of the initial Complaint so as to escape the bar of the Statute of Limitations;

3. therefore, Plaintiffs' claim against the Fund was barred

by the two year Statute of Limitations set forth in Florida Statutes Section 95.11(4)(b).

The trial court entered a judgment on the pleadings in favor of the Fund which was sustained upon appeal by the District Court of Appeal, Third District. That court did, however, certify the following question to the Florida Supreme Court:

QUESTION:

Whether a claim against the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund arises at the time of the alleged medical malpractice, rather than when judgment is entered against the tortfeasor, and is governed by the two year statute of limitations provided by Section 95.11 (4) (b), Florida Statutes (1977), so that the Fund must be made or joined as a party defendant within two years after the malpractice action accrues?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court below relied on <u>Owens v Florida Patient's Compensa-</u> <u>tion Fund</u>, Fla DCA 1, 419 So 2d 348, and on <u>Mercy Hospital</u>, <u>Inc v</u> <u>Menendez</u>, 371 So 2d 1077, Fla DCA 3, 1979. The court cited <u>Owens</u> as holding that:

the two-year Statute of Limitations in Florida Statutes
 Section 95.11 (4) (b) applies; and

2) joinder of the Fund after the two-year limit does not relate back to the filing of the original Complaint within the two-year period of time;

and cited <u>Menendez</u> as holding that Plaintiff, not the health care provider, has the duty of joining the Fund as a party Defendant.

Appellant argues that:

1) Even if the two-year statute of limitations applies, the joinder of the Fund after two years relates back to the original filing of the Complaint under the doctrine set down by the Florida Supreme Court in the case of <u>McNayr v. Cranbrook Investments, Inc,</u> 1963, 158 So 2d 129; therefore whether the limit is two years or four years is moot in this case and other similar cases;

2) In any event, the two-year Statute of Limitations of 95.11
(4) (b) does not apply, and the applicable Statute of Limitations
is four years under Florida Statutes Sections 95.11 (3) (a), (f),
or (p) because:

a. The Fund is not a "health care provider" under the

terms of the Statute;

b. The Fund is not "in privity with" the health care provider as the term "privity" is known in tort law; and

c. The Fund functions as an insuror; thus, except for the provisions of Florida Statutes Section 768.54 (3) requiring joinder of the Fund in any civil action, any cause of action against it does not accrue until a judgment has been entered against its insured.

3) The <u>Menendez</u> court was wrong in holding that the Plaintiff must be the one to join the Fund as a Defendant. Since the health care provider is the one who knows whether it is a member of the Fund, the duty should be on the health care provider to make the Fund a third party defendant; and upon failure to do so the health care provider should be responsible for the entire judgment.

ARGUMENT

1. INTRODUCTION - STATUTORY BACKGROUND

Florida Statutes Section 768.54 is a complicated, complex, convoluted attempt by the legislature to provide health care providers with lower claims costs while still providing adequate compensation for those injured by the negligence of health care providers. It has been amended in practically every legislative session since it was first passed in 1975.

At the time of the injury to Mrs. Taddiken, and at the time of the filing of this civil action, the Statute:

A. defined the term "health care provider" (Section 768.54 (1) (b) (the definition did not include the Fund);

B. defined the term "Fund" separately from that of "health care provider" (Section 768.54 (1) (a);

C. limited the amount of liability for negligence of a health care provider who was a member of the Fund to \$100,000.00 per claim or \$500,000.00 per occurence for claims covered under the act if:

(1) the health care provider was a member of the Fund, and

(2) had paid to the Fund the fees required by it;

D. provided that the Fund would pay that portion of such judgment or settlement which is in excess of either the sum of \$100,000.00 or the amount of the health care provider's basic

insurance coverage, whichever was greater; and

E. provided, deep in the bowels of the Statute, that

Any person may file an action against a participating health care provider for damages covered under the Fund, except that the person filing the claim shall not recover against the Fund unless the Fund was named as a Defendant in the suit. (Emphasis added).

The Statute did not require health care providers to be members of the Fund (Florida Statutes Section 768.54(2)(a).

At the time of the filing of this civil action Florida Statutes Section 95.11(4)(b) provided as follows:

> An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within 2 years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within two years from the time the incident is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence; however, in no event shall the action be commenced later than 4 years from the date of the incident or occurence out of which the cause of action accrued. An "action for medical malpractice" is defined as a claim in tort or in contract for damages because of the death, injury, or monetary loss to any person arising out of any medical, dental, or surgical diagnosis, treatment, or care by any provider of heatlh care. The limitation of actions within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons in privity with the provider of health care. (Emphasis added).

Four year limitations were set for actions arising out of negligence (Florida Statutes Section 95.11 (3) (a)); a statutory liability (Florida Statutes Section 95.11 (3) (f)); and not otherwise specifically provided by Statute (Florida Statutes Section 95.11 (3) (p)).

2. APPLICATION OF THE STATUTES TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE

A. Joinder of the Fund in an Amended Complaint relates back to the filing of the original Complaint. Thus, the question posed by the District Court is, as to this case, moot.

Contrary to the statement in <u>Owens v Florida Patient's</u> Compensation Fund, DCA 1, 1983, 425 So 2d 708, that

> "...when a complaint is amended as to name a new party Defendant, such amendment does not relate back, and for limitations purposes the action, as to that defendant, is not commenced until the amended complaint is filed" (428 So 2d at 710)

changes in the character and capacity in which Defendants are sued, which do not change the cause of action, relate back to the filing of the original Complaint. (35 Fla Jur. 2d Section 77, page 92 at 95 and cases cited).

The case most analogous to the case at bar is that of <u>McNayr</u> <u>v. Cranbrook Investments, Inc.,</u> 1963, Fla 158 So 2d 129. In that case a taxpayer sued to reduce an annual ad valoreum tax assessment.

- There, like here, the statute required an addition of another party, in that case the State Comptroller.

- There, like here, the Plaintiff failed to join the required party in its initial Complaint.

- There, like here, the Plaintiff was given leave to amend its Complaint to name the omitted party after the Statute of Limitations period had expired.

- There, like here, the new party moved to dismiss on the

grounds that the Statute of Limitations had expired.

There, the Florida Supreme Court held that

"... the court has the discretionary power to allow an amendment to add the Comptroller as a party Defendant under the Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 1.15, 30 FSA, and the amendment then relates back to the time of the original pleading. Thus in the instant case the suit was properly instituted within the time limitation of Section 192.21 because the amendment to add the Comptroller related back to the date of the institution of the suit. The result of the judgment in Green v. Peters, 140 So 2d 601, 605, is the same" 158 So 2d 131 (Emphasis added).

The purpose of the statutes in requiring joinder of the Comptroller in tax assessment actions and requiring joinder of the Fund in medical malpractice actions is the same, namely, to insure that fraud is not practiced upon the Defendants. If the addition of the Comptroller relates back to the time of filing the Complaint against the tax assessor, then the addition of the Fund ought to relate back to the filing of the initial Complaint against the health care provider. The decisions of the District Courts of appeal in the case at bar and in similar cases, including <u>Owens</u>, are thus contrary to the decision of the Florida Supreme Court in McNayr and should be reversed.

B. The Fund is not a health care provider as defined by Statute and case law.

Florida Statutes Section 768.54 (1) (a) defines the Fund. Florida Statutes Section 768.54 (1) (b) separately defines health

care provider.

In addition to being separately defined in the statute, the definition of "health care provider" in the latter subsection does not include any description remotely recognizable as the Fund.

Finally, <u>Florida Medical Center Inc. v. Von Stetina</u>, 1983, DCA 4, 436 So 2d 1022, specifically held that "the Fund is not a 'health care provider'" under the Statute (436 So 2d at 1028, 1029).

Therefore, Florida Statutes Section 95.11 (4) (b) does not aply to the Fund as a "health care provider"

C. <u>The Fund is not "in privity" with the health care provider</u> as that term is used in Florida Statutes Section 95.11 (4) (b).

(1). As pointed out by Judge Ferguson in his dissent in the case of <u>Fabal v. Florida Keys Memorial Hospital</u>, 9 FLW 1210, the term "privity" in connection with the medical malpractice actions refers only to successive proprietors of the health care provider.

"Although the term "privity" has no definition which can be applied uniformly, <u>Tallahassee Variety Works v.</u> <u>Brown</u>, 106 Fla 599, 610, 144 So 848, 852 (1932), it is not completely elusive, but denotes a mutual or successive relationship to the same interest in property. <u>Industrial Credit Co. v. Berg</u>, 388 F. 2d. 835, 841 (8th Cir. 1968); <u>Osburn v. Stickel</u>, 187 So 2d 89, 92, n.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966). The relationship between the hospital and the Fund, whereby the Fund agrees to provide "coverage" to the hospital to the extent that a malpractice claim against the hospital exceeds \$100,000, does not remotely qualify as a privity relationship - else so might any contractual relationship. A good example of privity is set out in <u>Strathmore Riverside Villas Condomin-</u> ium Association, Inc., v. Paver Development Corp, 369 So Zd 971 (Fla 2d DCA), cert. denied, 379 So 2d 210, (Fla 1979) where it was said that the original purchaser of a newly constructed condominium home was in privity with the developer but a subsequent purchaser of the home was not. Applying the definition of privity to the term in its statutory context, the logical conclusion is that the two year time period within which a medical malpractice action must be commenced against the tortfeasor health care provider applies only to any successor in ownership to that health care provider."

(2) Furthermore, it is clear from the history of privity in tort law that the term deals only with the duties of care of a principal actor in the event, and does not include a mere insuror.

An insuror or other source of funds for payment of a judgment has never been held to be in privity with the principal under such circumstances. It is not jointly liable with the insured for the total amount of the judgment regardless of the limits of the insurance policy, since such collateral sources are not involved in the tortious event and have no duty of care to the injured party.

The application of the privity doctrine to the medical care tort field is aptly illustrated by the case of <u>Wilhelm</u> <u>v. Traynor</u>, DCA 5, 1983, 434 So 2d 1011. There, the doctor obtained an biopsy of diseased flesh and sent it to a pathologist for examination. The pathologist made an incorrect diagnosis. As a result the patient was advised that he did not have cancer. When the cancer was later discovered the patient sued both doctors.

Although the question of privity was not discussed as such, it is obvious that the pathologist did not have any direct contact with the patient and his liability resulted solely because he was in privity with the treating doctor.

This difference is present in the case at bar.

- The Fund had no duty of care to the patient at the time of the medical treatment.

- The Fund was not present at the diagnosis.

- The Fund was not present in the operating room.

- The Fund was not present in the recovery room.

- The Fund did not have then, and does not have now a duty to give good medical care to the patient. The only duty the Fund has is to pay money if a judgment is entered against the Fund and the health care provider.

In the light of the above, and in the absence of any contrary evidence, the term "privity" when used by the legislature in Florida Statutes Section 95.11(4)(b) does not include the insuror of a health care provider or other sources of reimbursment such as the Fund. It includes only those persons who have a duty of care to the patient, such as a contractor's services like a pathologist.

Therefore the doctrine of "privity" in tort law does not apply to the Fund. If the doctrine does not apply to the Fund then the statutory time limitation which applies only to those covered by the doctrine of privity does not apply to the Fund either. Only the four-year limitations of Florida Statutes Section 95.11 (3) (a), (f) or (p) applies to the Fund.

D. <u>The Fund functions as an insuror and, except for the</u> provisions of Florida Statutes Section 768.54 (3) any cause of action against it does not accrue until a judgment has been entered against its insured.

Carl Sandberg, in his biography of Abraham Lincoln, tells how the Great Emanciptor answered a similar attempt to cause fuzzy thinking through the use of euphemisms.

"If you call the tail of a sheep a leg, how many legs will the sheep have?", asked Lincoln.

His questioners answered, "Five".

"No", said Lincoln, "it will have only four. Calling the tail of a sheep a leg does not make it a leg."

Calling the Fund anything but an insuror does not make it anything other than what it is - an insuror.

Consider the facts:

 The Fund is a pool of money for the payment of claims. So is insurance.

2. The Fund pool is made up of contributions from those who are protected by the Fund. So is an insurance pool.

 The Fund must accept all applicants. Insurors must accept risks from the assigned risk pool.

4. The Fund obligation is written in a statute passed by the Legislature. Insurance contracts are governed by statute and written on forms approved by the Insurance Commissioner under delegated authority from the Legislature.

5. The Fund must be made a party to the suit and given the opportunity to defend. An insurer must be notified of the suit and given an opportunity to defend (and, until prohibited by statute, was properly named as a party defendant to any suit against an insured).

6. The obligation of the Fund, once a judgment is rendered, is to pay the injured party the sum which it is obligated to pay under the Statute. The obligation of an insuror, once a judgment is rendered, is to pay the injured party the sum which it is obligated to pay under its contract.

7. The Fund is obliged to pay only those sums above the "deductible" amount of \$100,000. An insuror is obliged to pay only sums above the contract deductible amount.

8. The Fund is not responsible for punitive damages. An insuror is not responsible for punitive damages.

9. The Fund was created to indemnify doctors against specific perils. An insuror indemnifies its insureds against specific perils.

10. The statute setting up the Fund, and cases under it, have defined the Fund in insurance terms.

a. As it existed at the time of the filing of this civil action, Florida Statutes Section 768,54 (3)(a) which created the Fund, provided that its purpose was to pay

> "...that portion of any claim arising out of the rendering of or failure to render medical care or services for health care providers... for bodily injury or property damage to the person or property of any patient arising out of the <u>insured's</u> activities..." (Emphasis added)

Thus the legislature itself acknowledged that the Fund operated in the nature of an insurance fund.

b. In the case of <u>Florida Medical Center Inc., v</u> <u>Von Stetina</u>, 1983 DCA 436 So 2d 1022 at 1025, the Fourth District Court of Appeals characterized the Fund as a "trust fund in the nature of liability insurance"

ll. Statutory and judicial definitions of insurance describe factual situations identical to the Fund's situation. For example,

a. Florida Statutes Section 624.02 defines insur-

"...a contract where one undertakes to indemnify another or pay or allow a specified amount or a determinable benifit upon a determinable contingency."

This is exactly what the Fund does.

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