0+7 B-5

25

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOYCE M. TADDIKEN and FRANK TADDIKEN, her husband,

Petitioners,

vs.

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND,

Respondent.

FI SID J. WHITE OCT 26 1984 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By, Chief Deputy Clerk 65,690 CASE NO.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA THIRD DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND

PERKINS & COLLINS Richard B. Collins Robert W. Goldman Post Office Drawer 5286 Tallahassee, Florida 32314 (904) 224-3511

Counsel for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TADDIKENS' JOINDER OF THE FUND AS A DEFENDANT IN THEIR LAWSUIT DOES NOT RELATE BACK TO THE FILING OF THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT

The Taddikens' complaint was amended in order to <u>add</u> the Fund as a <u>new party</u> to its medical malpractice action (R.403-406). According to <u>Owens v. Florida Patient's</u> <u>Compensation Fund</u>, 428 So.2d 708 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), such an amended complaint does not relate back to the original complaint. <u>Owens</u> is another in the line of statute of limitation cases holding that actions against the Fund are barred if not commenced within the limitation period established in Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes. Addressing the same "relation back" argument raised by the Taddikens, the <u>Owens</u> Court held:

It is well established that when a complaint is amended so as to name a <u>new party defendant</u>, such amendment does not relate back, and for limitation purposes the action, as to that defendant, is not commenced until the amended complaint is filed.

428 So.2d at 710 (Emphasis added).

On page 9 of the Initial Brief, the Taddikens correctly point out that "changes in the character and capacity in which Defendants are sued, which do not change the cause of action, relate back to the filing of the original

Complaint." Contrary to the Taddikens' belief, that statement of law is <u>not</u> inconsistent with <u>Owens</u>. Indeed, changing the character in which a defendant is sued is quite different than <u>adding a new defendant</u> as the Taddikens have done in this case. In the latter situation, there is no relation back, <u>Id</u>.; <u>Louis v. South Broward Hospital</u> <u>District</u>, 353 So.2d 562,563 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977)("An amendment which merely corrects a misnomer might well relate back to the date the complaint was originally filed, but this relation back rule is inapplicable where the effect is to bring new parties into the suit.").

The Taddikens cite <u>Florida</u> <u>Jurisprudence</u>, <u>Second</u>, to rebut <u>Owens</u>, Initial Brief at 9. But rather than rebutting it, <u>Florida</u> <u>Jurisprudence</u>, <u>Second</u>, restates the very rule applied in <u>Owens</u>, which is applicable here as well. <u>See</u>, 35 <u>Fla. Jur. 2d</u>, <u>Limitations</u>, §77, <u>et. seq.</u> Indeed, <u>Owens</u> cites <u>Florida</u> <u>Jurisprudence</u>, <u>Second</u> and the cases cited therein as authority for its holding regarding the relation back of an amended complaint. 428 So.2d at 710.

The Taddikens also cite <u>McNayr v. Cranbrook</u> <u>Investments</u>, 158 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1963) as being on "all fours" with this case and contrary to <u>Owens</u>. Initial Brief at 9-10. That is not so.

According to the Taddikens, the Comptroller in <u>McNayr</u> was simply a nominal party whose presence in that suit was

required "to insure that fraud is not practiced upon the Defendants." Initial Brief at 10. That may be true. But the Taddikens' further contention that the Fund's role in a medical malpractice action is like that of the Comptroller is absurd and points to the Taddikens' inattentiveness to Section 768.54, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978). The Fund is solely and directly liable to medical malpractice plaintiffs for injuries in excess of the health care providers' limitation of liability. <u>Owens</u>, 428 So.2d at 710; <u>See</u> Statement of Facts, <u>supra.</u>, at 5. It is anything but a nominal party.

The <u>Green v. Peters</u> case, 140 So.2d 601 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1962), cited in <u>McNayr</u> and by the Taddikens, is likewise consistent with the holding in <u>Owens</u>. In that case, the Comptroller was already a party in the case. The amended complaint simply recognized that the Comptroller was being sued in his official capacity rather than his individual capacity. No new party having been added, the amended complaint in that case related back to the original complaint. Id. at 603.

For these reasons, the general rule regarding the relation back of an amended complaint restated in <u>Owens</u> should be applied here.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL AND CIRCUIT COURT BELOW CORRECTLY HELD THAT SECTION 95.11(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), BARRED THE TADDIKENS' ACTION AGAINST THE FUND

Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1983), in pertinent part states:

An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within 2 years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within 2 years from the time the incident is discovered with the exercise of due diligence;.... The limitation of actions within this subsection shall be limited to the health care provider and persons in privity with the provider of health care.

(Emphasis added).

In an effort to avoid the clear applicability of the above-quoted statute to this case, the Taddikens contend that the Fund is really an insurance program, rather than a unique creature of statute designed to cure a unique problem. And like other insurance programs, according to the Taddikens, the Fund is not protected under Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, since a cause of action against an insurer does not even arise until a final judgment against its insured is entered.

Failing on that front, the Taddikens also argue that the Fund is not "in privity with the health care provider" in this case, despite the contractual relationship between them.

Those two arguments, however, are without merit; not simply because of the plethora of cases that contradict them, but because of the nature of the Fund and its relationship to health care providers and their patients.

A. The Fund Is Not An Insurance Program.

The dissenting judge in <u>Fabal v. Florida Keys Memorial</u> <u>Hospital</u>, 452 So.2d 946,949 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), on whom the Taddikens rely, stated matter of factly that "the similarities between the Fund and an insurance program clearly preponderate over the dissimiliarities." A cursory examination of Section 768.54, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978), <u>4</u>however, indicates that the dissimilarities are predominant. Some of the more significant differences that existed in 1978 are listed below.

1. The Fund is a non-profit association, in contrast to private for-profit insurance companies. Dept. of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia, Id.; See Landis v. Dewitt C. Jones Co., 108 Fla. 613, 147 So. 230, 231 (1933) ("Those who organize or embark in insurance business have profit in view as a recompense for the industry, ability, and capability invested and it would be a strange insurance business that would omit this great incentive from its plans and purposes."). The Fund is managed by a public board of governors, as opposed to a private board of directors obligated to make profits for private investors. See §768.54(3)(a) and (b), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978).

 $[\]frac{4}{2}$ Again, the Court should keep in mind that the 1978 statute controls the Fund's relationship with both the Taddikens and the health care provider in this case. See page 4, n. 1, supra.

- 2. In return for becoming a member of the Fund, and maintaining the membership, a health care provider's liability for medical malpractice is limited by operation of law to \$100,000.00. §768.54(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978). No such benefit is available anywhere else, and certainly not in any insurance program.
- 3. Consistent with its non-profit makeup, the Fund does not exact a fixed premium from its members. Instead, it supplements an initial fee with whatever assessments are necessary in order meet the Fund's obligation to medical malpractice victims. <u>See</u> §768.54 (3)(c), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (Supp. 1978).
- 4. The Fund does not enjoy the luxury of having underwriting authority. Unlike insurance companies, it had to take all Florida health care providers who elected to join for 1978. See §768.54(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978).
- 5. The Fund also lacked the authority to set "policy limits for 1978." It is obligated to pay malpractice victims any amount of a judgment in excess of the \$100,000.00 limitation on a health care provider's liability. That liability is actually assumed <u>primarily</u> by the Fund. §768.54(3)(e), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1978).
- 6. One of the most significant dissimilarities is that medical malpractice claimants <u>must</u> join the Fund as a defendant in their lawsuit against a Fund member in order to recover against the Fund. Plaintiffs have no such burden against insurance companies because, unlike the relationship between the Fund and its members, an insurance company simply <u>indemnifies</u> its insureds for damages resulting from their negligent acts. See <u>Mercy Hospital v.</u> Menendez, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

Because of those dissimilarities, the First, Second and Third District Courts of Appeal have recognized that the Fund is not an insurance program. <u>Owens v. Florida</u> <u>Patient's Compensation Fund</u>, 428 So.2d 708 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Burr v. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, 447 So.2d 349 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984); <u>Fabal v. Florida Keys</u> <u>Memorial Hospital</u>, 452 So.2d 946,949 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); and <u>Mercy Hospital v. Menendez</u>, 371 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). <u>Owens, Burr</u> and <u>Fabal</u> involved the same question presented here and on the basis of their conclusions about the nature of the Fund, each court held that Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, applied and barred the proceedings against the Fund below.

Although the Menendez court was not reviewing the applicability of Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, to the Fund, it did consider whether the Fund was analogous to an insurance program. The Taddikens and the dissenting judge in Fabal suggest that because the ultimate issue in the case was not the same as here, Menendez is not applicable to this case. Initial Brief at 5; 452 So.2d at 948. The contrary is true. The Fund is not a chameleon that changes its character depending on the issue presented. The Fund is the Fund, incapable of changing, except by legislative edict. So, the Menendez analysis of the Fund is as relevant here as Burr, Fabal and Owens. Note that the Appellant in Lugo admits to the applicability of Menendez to this statute of limitation question. See Initial Brief in Lugo v. Glaser, Case No. 65,765, at 5-6.

The Taddikens and the dissenting judge in <u>Fabal</u> attempt to dilute the significance of the other decisions listed above by ignoring <u>Burr</u> altogether and by arguing that <u>Owens</u>

is bad law.

They attack <u>Owens</u> as being inconsistent with their definition of an "insurer": one who indemnifies another against a particular peril. <u>See</u> Initial Brief at 16. According to the Taddikens and the dissenter in <u>Fabal</u> the Fund indemnifies Fund members for their liability to their patients and consequently are insurers. <u>Id</u>. But the Fund indemnifies no one.

A contract of indemnity is an undertaking by which one party agrees to protect a second party against loss or damage by reason of the second party's liabilty to another 12 Fla.Jur. 2d, Contribution, Indemnity and person. Subrogation, §9 (1979); Royal Indemnity Co. v. Knott, 101 Fla 1495, 136 So. 474 (1931). A Fund member, however, is not liable to its patient who is damaged by malpractice in excess of \$100,000.00. The Legislature made clear in Section 768.54, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1978), that it is not the case that the Fund member is actually liable for the damages in excess of \$100,000.00, but someone else is going to indemnify it for that portion, as with insurance; nor is it the case that the Fund and its Fund members are jointly liable for that amount. As a matter of law, the Fund member is not liable and the Fund is. As a matter of law the Fund is primarily liable to the patient of a Fund member who is damaged during the 1977-1978 Fund year by a Fund member who

result of malpractice during that year to the extent damages exceed \$100,000.00.

*

In an action against an insured and its insurance company, if the insurance company is for some reason unable to meet its judgment debt at the time or in the manner that the plaintiff might desire, the plaintiff could collect completely against the insured, leaving it to the insured to seek recovery from its insurance company.

That scenario is totally dissimilar to a malpractice action brought against a Fund member and the Fund. The plaintiff in such a case can only look to the Fund member for the first \$100,000.00 in damages, regardless of whether the Fund is delayed in meeting its obligation.

Because of the Legislature's redistribution of medical malpractice liability directly to the Fund, it is no wonder that a claimant is required to name the Fund in any action where the claimant seeks to recover against it and it is no wonder that the Fund, for purposes of Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, has been treated by the First, Second and Third District Courts of Appeal as any other defendant in a medical malpractice lawsuit that is directly liable to the plaintiff, assuming the alleged malpractice occurred.

B. The Fund Is In Privity With Its Fund Member Health Care Providers

Both the Appellate court below and the Burr court

directly reached the issue of whether the Fund is in privity with its Fund members for purposes of Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, and both courts decided that the necessary privity existed. The <u>Fabal</u> court and the <u>Owens</u> court, of course, impliedly reached the same result on the privity issue since they both determined that Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, protects the Fund from tardy lawsuits.

The dissenter in <u>Fabal</u> recognized that no definition of privity can be applied uniformly. <u>Id</u>. Indeed, the meaning varies depending on the purpose for which the theory is used. <u>Taddiken</u>, 449 So.2d at 957. The one certainty, however, is that parties who have <u>contracted with</u> <u>one another</u>, like the Fund and its members, are in privity with each other. The dissenter's own example of <u>Strathmore</u> <u>Riverside Villas v. Paver Development Corp.</u>, 369 So.2d 971 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979), emphasizes that point.

In <u>Strathmore</u>, the court determined that the original purchaser of a newly constructed condominium home was in privity with the developer, but a subsequent purchaser was not. The reason for that result is simple and is expressed in the opinion; the original purchaser enjoyed a contractual relationship (purchase contract and deed) with the developer, while subsequent purchasers contracted with the preceeding purchaser, not the developer. Absent such a contractual relationship, there was no privity between

subsequent purchasers and the developer. Id.

The Fabal dissenting judge's discussion of privity and the Taddikens' discussion of privity do not attempt to seriously combat the Fund's contractual privity with its members. Instead, they take an O. Henrian twist. Indeed they end abruptly with the incongruous and unsupported conclusion that the "privity provision" in Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, applies only to a successor to a health care provider. Id. at 950; Initial Brief at 11-12. According to the dissenter, such a successor is one who "becomes invested with rights and assumes burdens of a health care provider." Id. at 950, n. 6. For instance, if a hospital corporation was directly liable for an act of malpractice and another corporation became associated with it, and thereby became directly liable for the same malpractice, then that second corporation would have the benefit of Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes, in like manner as the first corporation.

Assuming, arguendo, that the dissenting judge's and the Taddikens' interpretation is correct, the Fund squarely satisfies the successor definition to the extent that a malpractice judgment of a Fund member exceeds \$100,000.00. It is no different than that "second corporation" described in the preceeding paragraph.

The Taddikens go somewhat further afield in their

effort to remove the Fund from the purview of Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes. They contend that the Fund's relationship to a malpractice action is one of an indemnifier, nothing more, and consequently, its privity relationship with the health care provider is no different than that of health care providers' insurance companies, which do not enjoy the protection of Section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes.

Again, the Appellants blind themselves to the uniqueness of the relationship between the Fund and its health care providers. <u>Unlike</u> the health care providers' privity relationship with their insurance companies, here, by operation of law, the Fund is <u>solely</u> and <u>directly liable</u> to the medical malpractice claimant for damages sustained in excess of \$100,000.00.

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